No. S221038
(Court of Appeal No. A140035)
(San Francisco County Super. Ct. J.C.C.P. No. 4748)

FEB -2 2015

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,

Respondent.

BRACY ANDERSON, *ET AL.*,

Real Parties in Interest.

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ARNOLD & PORTER LLP
JEROME B. FALK, JR. (No. 39087)
jerome.falk@aporter.com
SEAN M. SELEGUE (No. 155249)
Three Embarcadero Center, 10th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111-4024
Telephone: 415.471.3100
Facsimile: 415.471.3400

ARNOLD & PORTER LLP
STEVEN G. READE
(*admitted pro hac vice*)

ISSUES PRESENTED

The order granting review specifies the issues to be addressed as “(1) whether after *Daimler AG v. Bauman* (2014) 571 U.S. ___ [187 L. Ed. 2d 624; 134 S. Ct. 746], general jurisdiction exists; and (2) whether specific jurisdiction exists.” More specifically, can California courts exercise general or specific jurisdiction over an out-of-state company to adjudicate the product liability claims of out-of-state residents involving wholly out-of-state events and injuries?

INTRODUCTION

More than 3,400 residents from 45 states other than California have sued defendant Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (“BMS”) in San Francisco Superior Court for injuries purportedly related to the prescription antiplatelet medication Plavix[®]. To determine whether personal jurisdiction over BMS exists, one might ask whether BMS is a California company. It is not. It is incorporated in Delaware with its principal place of business in New York. One might wonder whether BMS made Plavix[®] in California. It did not. Plavix[®] was developed and tested entirely outside California. One might then query whether the nonresidents were prescribed the drug, took it, or sustained injuries in California. They did not. So why did these plaintiffs sue BMS in San Francisco?

The nonresident plaintiffs did not come here to ride the cable cars or stroll across the Golden Gate Bridge. Nor did they come here because their underlying lawsuits somehow relate to California. These out-of-state plaintiffs filed suit here solely because their lawyers view San Francisco as a favorable forum to litigate product liability cases like this one. They did this—so far successfully—by joining thousands of out-of-state residents with a relative handful of in-state residents.

The Court of Appeal approved this tactic, holding that California courts could exercise personal jurisdiction over BMS to adjudicate the out-of-state plaintiffs' claims solely because BMS marketed Plavix[®] as part of a nationwide "common effort" that allegedly injured California residents along with nonresidents. If that were to become the law, California would be seen as a prime destination for product liability litigation.

This Court should reverse. There is no constitutional basis for personal jurisdiction on these facts. A state may exercise personal jurisdiction over a corporate defendant under one of two theories: general jurisdiction or specific jurisdiction. The Court of Appeal correctly found that California lacked general jurisdiction over BMS. Two recent United States Supreme Court decisions, *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 131 S. Ct. 2846 (2011), and *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 134 S. Ct. 746 (2014), compelled that conclusion. Those cases reined in an overly expansive theory of general jurisdiction embraced by some lower courts—the notion that corporate defendants could be sued for any and all claims anywhere in the country where they do continuous and systematic business. Corporations are now subject to general jurisdiction only in those states where they are incorporated or have their principal place of business. Because BMS is neither headquartered nor incorporated in California, it is not subject to general jurisdiction here. *See* Section I.

The Court of Appeal nevertheless found specific jurisdiction to exist. But specific jurisdiction is a historically narrower doctrine that applies only where a lawsuit is connected to the corporate defendant's contacts with the forum state. Under this Court's key precedents, the plaintiff's claim must be *substantially related* to the defendant's contacts with the forum. *Vons Cos. v. Seabest Foods, Inc.*, 14 Cal. 4th 434 (1996). This "relatedness" test is anchored in principles of

federalism and Due Process—it ensures that nonresident defendants are called to answer only for legal obligations that derive from their conduct in the forum state. Where, in contrast, all of the company’s relevant events occurred outside the forum, a state has no genuine interest in the controversy and cannot constitutionally extend its authority to decide an extraterritorial dispute.

The Court of Appeal recognized that none of the conduct underlying the nonresident plaintiffs’ claims bore any connection with California. Yet it found jurisdiction based on BMS’s nationwide sales of Plavix[®], including sales to *other* plaintiffs who *do* reside in this State and claim injury. These purported “connections” do not satisfy Due Process.

To begin with, after acknowledging that BMS’s substantial California sales were insufficient to support general jurisdiction, the court relied on precisely those unrelated contacts to find specific jurisdiction. To do this, the court paid lip service to the constitutional requirement of “relatedness,” but failed to actually apply it. The Court of Appeal’s failure to inquire whether “there is a substantial nexus or connection *between the defendant’s forum activities and the plaintiff’s claim*” (*Vons*, 14 Cal. 4th at 456 (emphasis added)) would re-establish, for cases involving a nationally distributed product, an overly expansive view of jurisdiction incompatible with recent United States Supreme Court precedent. Under this theory, any plaintiff could sue BMS (or any other multinational corporation) in virtually any state in the nation. That is precisely the result the Supreme Court rejected so emphatically in *Daimler* and *Goodyear*. See Section II(A).

Nor, as the Court of Appeal thought, does the existence of parallel lawsuits brought by California residents provide the requisite connection between the claims of nonresidents and BMS’s contacts in the forum. Permitting specific jurisdiction on the basis of similar but unconnected claims by out-of-state

plaintiffs is an invitation for rampant forum shopping. In product liability cases involving nationwide sales of a successful product, plaintiffs' lawyers will always be able to find resident-claimants in the forum of their choice to anchor the litigation in a tactically advantageous state. This is not a sufficient basis for invoking jurisdiction. *See* Section II(B).

Plaintiffs may invoke—and the Court of Appeal may have been influenced by—considerations of judicial efficiency. But such considerations cannot trump Due Process limits on the exercise of state power. Courts cannot erase territorial boundaries to hear nationwide disputes in the way that Congress can—for example, through the mechanism of multidistrict litigation. *See* 28 U.S.C. §1407. It would offend basic notions of federalism and fairness for a single state to make itself host of the bulk—or even the entirety—of nationwide mass tort litigation regarding a product simply because a relative handful of California residents also suffered injuries. *See* Section II(C).

Accordingly, there is no justification for permitting these nonresident plaintiffs to occupy a scarce and coveted slot in the San Francisco Superior Court's complex civil litigation department or for compelling California citizens to serve as jurors for lawsuits concerning claimed events and injuries that all occurred outside of California. *Id.*

No precedent supports the decision below. No decision of this Court or post-*International Shoe* decision of the United States Supreme Court supports specific jurisdiction where *no* connection exists. Indeed, the decision below conflicts with *Fisher Governor Co. v. Superior Court*, 53 Cal. 2d 222 (1959), and innumerable California decisions. Cases upholding specific jurisdiction uniformly involve real and tangible in-state contacts underlying the plaintiff's claim—such as the plaintiff residing in the forum or suffering alleged injury there. *See* Section II(D).

Finally, if this Court were to conclude that the *Vons* substantial connection test is satisfied on these facts, then that test, as applied, would violate Due Process. The Court of Appeal's test would effectively eviscerate the relatedness requirement and expand the extraterritorial reach of a state to those disputes in which it has *no* legitimate interest. No state interest could justify California's assertion of adjudicatory authority over nonresidents allegedly injured elsewhere by out-of-state actors. *See* Section II(E).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plavix[®] is a prescription antiplatelet drug used to inhibit blood clots and thereby help prevent strokes, heart attacks and other cardiovascular problems. In March 2012, 575 nonresident plaintiffs joined with 84 California residents to file eight complaints in San Francisco Superior Court. Petitioner's Exhibits ("Pet. Ex.") 16-270.¹ Plaintiffs alleged personal injuries, principally bleeding events, from Plavix[®]. They named as defendants BMS—the manufacturer of Plavix[®]—and McKesson Corporation, one of many distributors for the drug. Pet. Ex. 16-270, 454, 456-59.

While all 659 plaintiffs took and claim injury from Plavix[®], the similarities between the in-state and out-of-state plaintiffs end there. The 575 nonresident plaintiffs claim no contacts with BMS's California activities or with California generally. They hail from 32 states other than California. The doctors who prescribed them Plavix[®] reside and practice outside California. The nonresident plaintiffs obtained their prescriptions for Plavix[®] outside California. They purchased the drug, used it, and were allegedly injured outside California. *See generally* Pet. Ex. 1-270, 382-426.

¹"Petitioner's Exhibits" refer to the exhibits BMS filed in the Court of Appeal in support of its writ petition.

For its part, BMS is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York and major facilities in New Jersey. Pet. Ex. 428 ¶2; 432 ¶2; 509. The research, development, labeling, regulatory approval, and manufacturing of Plavix® occurred in New Jersey or other places outside California. Pet. Ex. 432 ¶3.

BMS conducts business and sells products nationwide and throughout the world. It has five facilities here, employs 164 Californians (1.3% of its U.S. employees) and has approximately 250 sales representatives covering the entire State. Pet. Ex. 428 ¶3; 430 ¶2. BMS sells Plavix® in California, and from 2006 to 2012 made just under \$1 billion in California sales. Pet. Ex. 454. Overall, BMS derives 1.1% of its total U.S. sales revenue from California sales of Plavix® and appreciably less of its global revenue. Pet. Ex. 432 ¶4.

BMS did not challenge jurisdiction as to the 84 California plaintiffs, who presumably used Plavix® and suffered their alleged injuries here. Pet. Ex. 343-61. But it did challenge the assertion of personal jurisdiction as to the 575 nonresident plaintiffs. *Id.* The Superior Court disagreed, concluding that it could exercise general jurisdiction over BMS based on the company's substantial business activity in California. Pet. Ex. 808, 812-14. The court did not address whether it could exercise specific jurisdiction over BMS. *Id.*

BMS filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate with the Court of Appeal, naming the 575 nonresident plaintiffs as real parties in interest. The court summarily denied the writ petition on January 14, 2014—the same day the United States Supreme Court decided *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 134 S. Ct. 746 (2014).

This Court then granted BMS's Petition for Review and transferred the case to the Court of Appeal with direction to hear it on the merits. On July 30, 2014, the Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court on the basis of specific jurisdiction. Although the court held that California could not

exercise general jurisdiction because BMS was not “at home” in California (App. 17), it concluded that California *could* exercise specific jurisdiction over BMS because of its substantial business activities in this State and the existence of similar claims by California residents. App. 30-33.

After the Court of Appeal’s decision, the federal District Court overseeing the Plavix® multidistrict litigation remanded to the San Francisco Superior Court 57 additional cases involving 3,073 plaintiffs. *See In re Plavix Prod. Liab. & Mktg. Litig.*, MDL No. 2418, No. 3:13-cv-2418, 2014 WL 4954654 (D.N.J. Oct. 1, 2014). These 3,073 plaintiffs reside in 45 states, Puerto Rico, and Canada, and have been added to the Plavix® coordinated proceedings in this State. In total, 3,732 individual plaintiffs—only 252 of whom are California residents—are now before the San Francisco Superior Court.

On November 19, 2014, this Court granted review and directed the parties to address both general and specific jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

The United States Supreme Court has recognized two kinds of personal jurisdiction: general jurisdiction and specific jurisdiction. These doctrines, while distinct, are two sides of the same coin—together they define the limits of a state’s authority to compel defendants to submit to adjudication in its courts. Under recent United States Supreme Court precedent, a court may only exercise general jurisdiction over companies that make the forum state their “home” by incorporating or maintaining their principal place of business there. *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 134 S. Ct. 746, 761 n.19 (2014). Once a court has validly obtained general jurisdiction over a company, it may adjudicate “any and all claims” against that company, including those “arising from dealings entirely distinct from” the company’s forum activities. *Goodyear Dunlop*

Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 2851, 2853 (2011). When the defendant is not “at home” in the forum, the doctrine of specific jurisdiction allows a state to adjudicate only those lawsuits that “*arise[] out of or relate[] to the defendant’s contacts with the forum.*” *Daimler*, 134 S. Ct. at 754 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeal agreed that BMS’s extensive contacts with, and sales of Plavix® in, California were insufficient to render BMS “at home” here because it neither was incorporated nor had its principal place of business here. The Court of Appeal nevertheless relied on the same contacts to support a finding of specific jurisdiction—without regard to whether the out-of-state plaintiffs’ claims were in fact related to BMS’s California activities. As a result, the Court of Appeal made specific jurisdiction in product liability cases a stand-in for the unduly expansive version of general jurisdiction that the United States Supreme Court has twice rejected on Due Process grounds. Whether labeled specific or general jurisdiction, this exercise of adjudicatory authority over claims brought by nonresidents against an out-of-state corporation suffers from the same constitutional infirmity.

I.

BECAUSE BMS IS NOT “AT HOME” IN CALIFORNIA, IT IS NOT SUBJECT TO GENERAL JURISDICTION.

In *Daimler*, the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed an easy-to-apply, bright-line test that it had adopted three years earlier to determine whether general jurisdiction exists. If a company is incorporated or has its principal place of business in the forum, it is subject to general jurisdiction there. Otherwise, it is not. BMS neither is incorporated nor maintains its principal place of business in California. Therefore, it is not subject to general jurisdiction here.

This was not always so clear. The Superior Court, for example, relied on *Hesse v. Best Western International, Inc.*, 32 Cal. App. 4th 404 (1995), to find general jurisdiction. Pet. Ex. 813. In that case, the cause of action neither arose out of nor related to the defendant's contacts with California. *Hesse* nevertheless held that California could exercise general jurisdiction over the defendant because it had engaged in "continuous and purposeful transactions with the State of California." 32 Cal. App. 4th at 410 (emphasis added). Cases like *Hesse* had allowed plaintiffs' lawyers in product liability cases to sue nationwide companies in any state where they perceived a tactical advantage. But no longer.

The United States Supreme Court has issued two decisions in the last four years to rein in this kind of forum shopping. *Goodyear* was a product liability action against foreign tire manufacturers, which arose from a bus accident in France. 131 S. Ct. at 2850. Although tens of thousands of the defendants' tires were distributed in the forum state (*id.* at 2851, 2852), the Court found "[s]uch a connection does not establish the 'continuous and systematic' affiliation necessary to empower [the forum] courts to entertain claims unrelated to the foreign corporation's contacts with the State." *Id.* at 2851.

Three years later, the Court decided *Daimler*. *Daimler* involved twenty-two Argentinian residents who brought a lawsuit in California against Daimler, a German company, for human rights violations committed in Argentina. 134 S. Ct. at 750-51. The alleged torts occurred in Argentina, but plaintiffs argued that a California court could exercise general jurisdiction over Daimler because one of its U.S. subsidiaries did substantial business here. *Id.* at 751. The U.S. subsidiary (whose contacts the Court imputed to the parent for purposes of the analysis) had several offices in California and was the single largest supplier of luxury vehicles to the California market. *Id.* at 752. Nevertheless, because Daimler

was not incorporated or headquartered in California, the Supreme Court held that California could not exercise general jurisdiction over the company. *Id.* at 761.²

It is likely that under the *Hesse* standard, Daimler's contacts would have been sufficient to result in general jurisdiction. But *Daimler* confirmed that no matter how much business a corporation does in the forum, that alone cannot support general jurisdiction:

If Daimler's California activities sufficed to allow adjudication of this Argentina-rooted case in California, the same global reach would presumably be available in every other State in which [the U.S. subsidiary's] sales are sizable. Such exorbitant exercises of all-purpose [general] jurisdiction would scarcely permit out-of-state defendants to structure their primary conduct with some minimum assurance as to where that conduct will and will not render them liable to suit. (*Id.* at 761-62 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted))

In the short period of time since *Daimler*, lower courts have consistently applied its clear holding. In *Young v. Daimler AG*, 228 Cal. App. 4th 855 (2014), for example, the Court of Appeal held that California could not exercise general jurisdiction over a manufacturer based on its subsidiary's

²The Supreme Court referred to the possibility of an "exceptional case." *Daimler*, 134 S. Ct. at 761 n.19. But the only "exceptional case" the United States Supreme Court has ever identified arose from unique wartime circumstances in *Perkins v. Benguet Consol. Mining Co.*, 342 U.S. 437 (1952). *Daimler*, 134 S. Ct. at 761 n.19; *Goodyear*, 131 S. Ct. at 2856. The defendant there was a Philippine mining corporation that had mostly ceased doing business there during the Japanese occupation. During that time, the company instead conducted its operations from Ohio, where its corporate president kept his office, oversaw corporate activities, and maintained the company files. As the Court explained in *Keeton v. Hustler Magazine, Inc.*, 465 U.S. 770, 779-80 n.11 (1984), the Ohio court properly exercised general jurisdiction in those unique circumstances because "Ohio was the corporation's principal, if temporary, place of business." The nonresident plaintiffs here have never argued that BMS's contacts with California are analogous to *Perkins*.

distribution and sales in California. *Id.* at 867. In the Plavix[®] product liability litigation itself, an Illinois court rejected general jurisdiction over BMS even though it had offices and substantial sales in Illinois. Order, *In re Plavix Related Cases*, No. 2012L5688, 2014 WL 3928240 (Ill. Cir. Ct. Aug. 11, 2014).

Here too, the Court of Appeal correctly held that, in light of *Daimler* and *Goodyear*, California could not exercise general jurisdiction over BMS. App. 17. Although BMS conducts business in this State—including substantial product sales and the maintenance and operation of physical facilities—it is not incorporated here and does not have its principal place of business here. California is no different than any of the dozens of other states in which BMS does substantial business but is not incorporated and does not have its principal place of business. BMS is not subject to general jurisdiction in those states and is not subject to it here.

II.

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