No. S221038
(Court of Appeal No. A140035)
(San Francisco County Super. Ct. J.C.C.P. No. 4748)

SUPREME COURT
FILED

APR 20 2015

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB COMPANY,
Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,
Respondent.

BRACY ANDERSON, ET AL.,
Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest

After Decision By the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Two, No. A140035; On Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Francisco, Honorable John E. Munter, J.C.C.P. No. 4748

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NAPOLI BERN RIPKA SHKOLNIK, LLP

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

ARGUMENT

A California court may exercise jurisdiction on any basis that is not inconsistent with the Constitution of the State of California or of the United States. (Code Civ. Proc. §410.10; *see also Cornelision v. Chaney* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 143.) California Code of Civil Procedure Section 410.10 is commonly referred to as California's "long-arm" statute. (*Asahi Metal Industry Co. v. Superior Court* (1987) 480 U.S. 102, 106 (*Asahi*); *see also Magnecomp Corp. v. Athene Co.* (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 526, 535.) This is because the statute, with respect to personal jurisdiction, manifests an intent to confer on California courts the **broadest possible jurisdiction, limited only by constitutional considerations.** (*Sibley v. Superior Court* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 442, 445 (emphasis added)).

"The canonical opinion in this area remains *International Shoe Co. v. Washington* (1945) 326 U.S. 310, 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (*International Shoe*), in which [the United States Supreme Court] held that

a State may authorize its courts to exercise personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state defendant if the defendant has ‘certain minimum contacts with [the State] such that the maintenance of the suit does not offend “traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.” ’ [Citation.]” (*Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown* (2011) — U.S. —, 131 S.Ct. 2846, 2853 (*Goodyear*); accord *Snowney v. Harrah's Entertainment, Inc.* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1054, 1061 (*Snowney*).) “*International Shoe's* conception of ‘fair play and substantial justice’ presaged the development of two categories of personal jurisdiction”: specific and general. (*Daimler, supra*, 134 S.Ct. at 754.)

General jurisdiction may be asserted by a court over foreign (sister-state or foreign-country) corporations to hear any and all claims against them when their affiliations with the State are so “continuous and systematic” as to render them essentially at home in the forum State.’ ” (*Daimler, supra*, 134 S.Ct. at p. 754.)

With respect to a corporation, while the place of incorporation and principal place of business are “‘paradig[m] ... bases for general jurisdiction.’ ” (*Id.* at p. 760), the high court clarified that it has not held that a corporation may be subject to general jurisdiction *only* in a forum where it is incorporated or has its principal place of business” (*ibid.* [emphasis in original]). Rather, the Court stated that where a corporation's operations in a forum other than its formal place of incorporation or principal place of business as so substantial and of such a nature as to render the corporation at home in that State, general jurisdiction may be asserted. (*Id.* at p. 762, fn. 19.)

Factors leading to the conclusion that a defendant’s contacts in the forum are continuous and systematic so as to render it at home include the maintenance of an office, presence of employees, the use of bank accounts, and *the marketing or selling or products in the forum state.* (*Helicopteros*

Nacionales de Colombia v. Hall (1984) 466 U.S. 408, 415 (*Helicopteros*)). Because the “minimum contacts” test is not susceptible of mechanical application (*Kulko v. California Superior Court* (1978) 436 U.S. 84, 92) these listed factors are not exhaustive; they provide guidance as to the type and degree of contacts the defendant must have in order to justify the exercise of general jurisdiction.

Specific jurisdiction over a defendant may be asserted when, the defendant has “purposefully directed” its activities at the forum state (*Keeton v. Hustler Magazine, Inc.* (1984) 465 U.S. 770, 774 (*Keeton*)); the plaintiff’s claims are related to or arise out of these forum-directed activities (*Helicopteros, supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 414); and, the exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable. (*Asahi, supra*, 480 U.S. at 113).

I. CALIFORNIA MAY EXERCISE GENERAL JURISDICTION OVER BMS

A. The U.S. Supreme Court’s Decision in *Daimler* Does Not Change The Circumstances Regarding The State Of California Exercising General Jurisdiction Over BMS.

BMS offers no rational or plausible argument as to how or why *Daimler* changes the legal landscape of personal jurisdiction in regards to the case at bar. *Daimler* does not change the circumstances herein and has little to no bearing as to whether the State of California can exercise general jurisdiction over BMS. Rather, *Daimler* is merely an application of the concept of general jurisdiction already established in *Goodyear, supra*. Simply put, *Daimler* is not a clarification or expansion of *Goodyear*, but rather an application of the concept embedded within *Goodyear* to a case whose facts are fundamentally different than the facts in the instant action.

Specifically, BMS erroneously interprets *Daimler*’s holding to mean that in order to exercise general jurisdiction over a defendant, the defendant must essentially be “at home” in the forum state and that a defendant

cannot be established to be “at home” by showing that the corporation engages in substantial, continuous or systematic business in the forum. Rather, BMS suggests that under *Daimler*, the only test to assess where a corporation is at home is to look at the place where it is incorporated or has its principal place of business. *See* BMS’ Opening Brief on the Merits at pg. 8.

BMS’ analysis of *Daimler* overlooks critical portions of the Court’s opinion. Contrary to BMS’ arguments, while *Daimler* did hold that the “place of incorporation and principal place of business are ‘paradig[m]...bases for general jurisdiction,” it *did not* hold that those are the only bases for jurisdiction. (*Daimler, supra*, 134 S.Ct at 769.)

Accordingly, the Supreme Court explained that “the inquiry under *Goodyear* is... whether that corporation’s affiliations with the State are so ‘continuous and systematic’ as to render [it] essentially at home in the forum State.” (*Id.* at 761.) This was the exact legal standard that existed at the time RPIs filed their complaint and it remains the legal standard today. The Supreme Court long ago recognized in *International Shoe* that general jurisdiction exists where a foreign corporation’s “continuous corporate operations within a state [are] so substantial and of such a nature as to justify suit against it on a cause of action arising from dealings distinct from those activities.” (*International Shoe, supra*, 326 U.S. at 318.)

Ultimately, the Supreme Court reiterated in *Daimler* that “the inquiry under *Goodyear* is not whether a foreign corporation’s in-forum contacts can be said to be in some sense continuous and systematic,’ it is whether that corporation’s *affiliations with the State are so ‘continuous and systematic’ as to render it essentially at home in the forum State.*” (*Daimler, supra*, 134 S.Ct at 761.) Throughout their Opening Brief, BMS contends that *Daimler* created a bright line test concluding that there is only one—at the most two—jurisdictions where a defendant can be deemed to

be “at home” and subject to general jurisdiction. This is patently false and BMS’ interpretation, if accepted by this Court, would only serve to place severe limits on a state’s sovereign right over their court’s ability to hold responsible a defendant who committed tortious acts within its boundaries.

Not only would adopting BMS’ interpretation of *Daimler* impede a state’s sovereignty over their court’s jurisdiction, it would create a gross injustice that would allow bigger, multinational corporations to evade general jurisdiction while forcing smaller corporations located within a state to always be subject to that forum’s general jurisdiction—an imbalance that would not only defeat the traditional notions of fair play and justice, but would create a benefit to large corporate wrongdoers at the expense of those the corporation has injured.

Rather, *Daimler* held that the relevant inquiry for general jurisdiction does *not* end at whether the foreign corporation is incorporated in the forum state or if it has a principal place of business in the state, but that the analysis continues on to determine whether the foreign corporation has affiliations with the forum that are so continuous and systematic that it is still considered at home in the forum. Further, *Daimler* did not create or institute a bright line test in determining where a corporate defendant is deemed to be “at home”—instead, *Daimler* provided factors a court may apply in determining whether a forum can exercise general jurisdiction over a corporate defendant; specifically: 1) the state of incorporation of the corporate defendant; 2) the location of the corporate defendant’s principal place of business; and 3) whether the corporate defendant has continuous and systematic affiliations with the forum state.

B. BMS' Affiliations With California Are So Substantial And Of Such A Nature As To Render It "At Home" In California.

BMS has substantial contacts within the State of California. It is indisputable that since 1936, BMS has been registered with the California Secretary of State to conduct business here and has maintained an agent for service in the State of California (Pet. Ex. 509); employs more than 400 people within California, approximately 250 of those being sales representatives (Pet. Ex. 428 ¶ 3); owns and/or occupies five buildings in the State (Pet. Ex. 428 ¶ 3). As stated above, BMS avails itself of McKesson's contacts with the State of California to distribute its drug within the state, thereby selling approximately \$1,533,640,480.44 dollars' worth of Plavix® alone within California

Despite these extensive and fundamentally significant contacts and that McKesson is headquartered in San Francisco, BMS still contends that it has insufficient contacts in the State of California. It is disingenuous for BMS to assert that their contacts with the State of California are so diminutive that BMS cannot properly be haled into a California court.

Neither *Goodyear* nor *Daimler* made the suggestion that the only states that can exercise jurisdiction over a corporation are its state of incorporation and the corporation's principal place of business. Rather, the Court in *Daimler* still turned to an analysis of whether a corporation's contacts within a forum were sufficient. Indeed, the Supreme Court cautioned that there is no particular quantum of local activity that marks the applicable threshold. (*Daimler, supra* at p. 762, fn. 20.)

BMS' contacts with California are more than substantial and undoubtedly are pointed towards the State. Contrary to BMS' arguments, BMS has availed itself of the laws of California in such a sustained manner that it is clearly subject to jurisdiction in the State of California. *Daimler*

has not changed these facts, and this case has not, despite BMS' arguments, overruled the previous precedent, such as *International Shoe* and *Hesse v. Best Western International*, (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 404.

Moreover, BMS' continued reliance on *Goodyear* is drastically misplaced. The case at bar is entirely distinguishable from the *Goodyear* case, in that the foreign defendant in *Goodyear* had absolutely **no** contacts with North Carolina, the forum at issue. Specifically, the *Goodyear* defendant **did not** sell products in North Carolina, **did not** advertise its products in North Carolina, it **did not** solicit business in North Carolina, it **did not** ship products to North Carolina, and the product at issue **was not** distributed in North Carolina. *Id.* at 2852. Simply put, the *Goodyear* defendant never "took any affirmative action to cause tires which they had manufactured to be shipped to North Carolina." *Id.*

Furthermore, the instant matter is distinguishable from *BNSF Railway Company v. Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles* (2015) — Cal.Rptr.3d. —, 2015 Westlaw 140454. In addressing the issue of whether general jurisdiction over the railway defendant could be exercised, the *BNSF Railway* court held that the fact that it owed 1,149 miles of track, employed 3,520 people, and generated 6 percent of its overall revenue in California was not so continuous and systematic as to render it "essentially at home" in California. These are not the facts in the instant matter.

Initially, unlike in *BNSF Railway*, BMS concedes that its contacts with California meet the minimum contacts requirement. Moreover, BMS' wide-ranging, systematic, and continuous activities in California, as detailed above, are far more extensive than BNSF Railway's. Indeed, BMS' conduct is comparable to a domestic enterprise in this State. (*Daimler* at p. 758, fn. 11.) As BMS' forum contact reflects far more than the fact that BMS is "doing business" in California, the exercise of general jurisdiction over it is well-supported.

Importantly, BMS intentionally chose to enter into a commercial and contractual relationship with California resident defendant McKesson Corporation to have its prescription drugs, including the Plavix® in question, be advertised, sold, marketed and distributed within California. Pet. Ex. 454; 456; 458. BMS purposefully entered into this contractual and commercial relationship with McKesson because of the ties and contacts McKesson has with California, specifically, the ability for BMS to make a substantial profit within California through McKesson's California contacts. Pet. Ex. 452 ¶3, 454.

Significantly, despite numerous competitors in an already saturated market, during 2006-2012, BMS sold just under two million pills of Plavix® within California, making just under one billion dollars in profit from its sales in just California—a significant and substantial profit directly resulting from its contractual and commercial relationship with McKesson. Pet. Ex. 452 ¶3, 454. From July 2011 until July 2012, and despite Plavix®'s patent expiration in May of 2012, BMS' California sales of Plavix® still accounted for an astonishing 1.1% of all U.S. Plavix® sales. Pet. Ex. 432 ¶4.

Unlike in the defendants in *Goodyear*, BMS is qualified, licensed, and authorized to do business in California; it does maintain offices in California; it does have employees and agents working for it in California; it has appointed an agent for service of process in California; it does conduct advertising or solicitation activities in California; it does operate and facilitate sales or service network in California; and it possess California real estate. As an ongoing business employing California residents, earning profits from its pharmaceutical sales in California, and owning property in California, BMS' payment of California taxes is reasonably inferred as well. (Compare *Goodyear, supra*, 131 S.Ct. at p.

2852.) Considering these factors, it is at home in California and should be subjected to its jurisdiction.

II. BMS' CALIFORNIA ACTIVITIES ARE SUBSTANTIALLY CONNECTED TO THE RPI CLAIMS TO SUPPORT SPECIFIC JURISDICTION

The inquiry as to whether a forum state may assert specific jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant “focuses on ‘the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation.’” *Keeton, supra*, 465 U.S. at 775 (quoting *Shaffer v. Heitner* (1977) 433 U.S. 186, 204). In this appeal, BMS’ takes issue with Court of Appeal’s’ application of California law as it pertains to the “relatedness prong” of its specific jurisdiction analysis. Specifically, BMS attacks the Court of Appeal’s’ application of the “substantial connection” test articulated in *Vons Companies, Inc. v. Seabest Foods, Inc.* (1996) 14 Cal. 4th 434, 452 (*Vons*) and *Snowney, supra*, 35 Cal. 4th 1054, 1068.

A. The “Substantial Connection” Test.

Vons arose out of the injuries suffered nationwide by Jack-in-the-Box customers from exposure to the E. coli bacteria. Jack-in-the-Box franchisees sued Vons, a meat supplier, and Vons sought to cross-complain against the franchisees, including two Washington state corporations, alleging that the customer injuries would have been avoided if the meat had been properly cooked. (*Vons, supra*, at 440-441.)

The appeal focused on the motions by the two Washington franchisees to quash service of the summons regarding Vons's cross complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction, which were granted and affirmed on appeal. Before reversing, the Court extensively reviewed pertinent California and federal cases concerning the proper test for specific jurisdiction. The *Vons* court stated “ ‘The crucial inquiry concerns the

character of defendant's activity in the forum, whether the cause of action arises out of or has a substantial connection with that activity, and the balancing of the convenience of the parties and the interests of the state in assuming jurisdiction.’ ”(*Vons, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at pp. 452–453, , quoting *Cornelison v. Chaney* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 143, 148 (*Cornelison*).)

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